
BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 2025 
 
 The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and the Buffalo County Board of Equalization met on Monday, November 10, 2025 

at 9:00 A.M. and 9:20 A.M.  Chairperson Morrow called the meeting to order and led those present in the Pledge of Allegiance. The 

following Board members responded to roll call: Timothy Higgins, Ivan Klein, Myron Kouba, Ronald Loeffelholz, Daniel Lynch, Bill 

Maendele and Sherry Morrow.  A copy of the acknowledgment and receipt of notice and agenda by the Board of Commissioners is 

attached to these minutes. Public notice of this meeting was published/posted in the Kearney Hub, on the Buffalo County website, and 

the bulletin boards located outside the County Clerk’s office and County Board Room on November 8, 2025.  Chairperson Morrow 

announced that in accordance with Section 84-1412 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes, a current copy of the Open Meetings Act is 

available for review and posted at the back of the Board Room. County Clerk Heather Christensen took all proceedings hereinafter 

shown; while the convened meeting was open to the public. County Attorney Shawn Eatherton and Deputy County Attorney Andrew 

Hoffmeister were present. 

REGULAR AGENDA 
 Moved by Lynch and seconded by Higgins to approve the October 28, 2025 minutes. Upon roll call vote, the following Board 

members voted “Aye”: Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

 Buffalo County Sheriff Neil Miller and Deputy Sheriff Nathan Howe introduced the Commissioners to the new Sheriff’s Office 

K-9 named Fritz. Fritz is a single purpose dog trained to sniff out drugs, explosives and other dangerous substances. Discussion occurred. 

 Moved by Higgins and seconded by Loeffelholz to ratify the following October 31, 2025 payroll claims processed by the County 

Clerk.  Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Higgins, Loeffelholz, Klein, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele and 

Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

OCTOBER 31, 2025 PAYROLL 

GENERAL FUND     
 NET PAYROLL      419,805.83  
 RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS   R   EMPE RET      68,980.63  
DAWSON CO COURT  E   GARNISHMENT       302.13  
 FIRST NATIONAL BANK   T   FEDERAL TAXES    142,768.01  
 STATE OF NE   T   STATE TAXES      22,651.27  
 ROAD FUND     
 NET PAYROLL        78,428.74  
 RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS   R   EMPE RET      11,135.31  
 FAMILY SUPPORT REGISTRY   E   GARNISHMENT         75.00  
 FIRST NATIONAL BANK   T   FEDERAL TAXES      23,261.72  
 STATE OF NE   T   STATE TAXES        3,522.80  
 WEED FUND     
 NET PAYROLL          6,313.67  
 RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS   R   EMPE RET       940.35  
 FIRST NATIONAL BANK   T   FEDERAL TAXES        2,003.53  
 STATE OF NE   T   STATE TAXES       304.81  

 

Moved by Maendele and seconded by Loeffelholz to acknowledge receipt of the Buffalo County Treasurer October 2025 Fund 

Balance Report. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Maendele, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Lynch 

and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

Moved by Klein and seconded by Lynch to acknowledge receipt of the Clerk of the District Court October 2025 Report. Upon 

roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Klein, Lynch, Higgins, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. Motion 

declared carried. 

Moved by Klein and seconded by Higgins to acknowledge receipt of the Treasurer Distress Warrant report, a copy will be filed 

with the County Clerk. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Klein, Higgins, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch, 

Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 After discussion it was moved by Maendele and Higgins to close the Courthouse on Wednesday, December 24, 2025 at 1:00 P.M. 

and reopen the Courthouse on Monday, December 29, 2025 at 8:00 A.M. in observance of Christmas Holiday. Upon roll call vote, the 

following Board members voted “Aye”: Maendele, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

  Chairperson Morrow reviewed the following correspondence. City of Kearney sent a letter regarding the Planning Commission 

Agenda for November 21, 2025. County Clerk added the last Planning Commission meeting minutes to the Board packets as requested 



by the Board. National Association of County Officials (NACo) sent a letter and book “National Association of Counties at 90” to 

celebrate their 90th Anniversary. Chairperson Morrow called on each Board member present for committee reports and 

recommendations. 

County Attorney Eatherton left at 9:15 A.M. 

ZONING 
 Zoning Administrator Dennise Daniels and Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister were present for the following Zoning agenda 

items. 

 Chairperson Morrow opened the public hearing at 9:21 A.M. for an Administrative Subdivision filed by Mitchell Humphrey, 

licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Linda D. Pfortmiller, Trustee of the Nancy A. Hervert Revocable Trust, for an Administrative 

Subdivision to be known as “N A Hervert Administrative Subdivision.” This property is located in Part of the Southwest Quarter of the 

Southeast Quarter of Section Twelve (12), Township Eleven (11) North, Range Fourteen (14) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, 

Buffalo County, Nebraska. Licensed land surveyor Humphrey was present to answer any questions. Gwen Stengel, a Buffalo County 

resident did ask for clarification regarding the subdivision. No one else addressed the Board. Chairperson Morrow closed the hearing at 

9:23 A.M.  Moved by Higgins and seconded by Kouba to approve the Administrative Subdivision to be known as “N A Hervert 

Administrative Subdivision” with the following Resolution 2025-67. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: 

Higgins, Kouba, Klein, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

RESOLUTION 2025-67 
 WHEREAS, Mitch Humphrey, licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Linda H. Pfortmiller, Trustee of the Nancy A. Hervert 

Revocable Trust, hereinafter referred to as “applicant”, has filed for an Administrative Subdivision for “N A Hervert Administrative 

Subdivision”, with the Buffalo County Clerk and/or Zoning Administrator, and 

 WHEREAS, the Zoning Administrator forwarded this application to this Board, and 

 WHEREAS, on November 10, 2025, this Board conducted a public hearing and finds: 

1. The proposed “N A Hervert Administrative Subdivision” is in the Agriculture (AG) Zoning District for Buffalo County, 

Nebraska.  

2. The tract, presently owned by Linda H. Pfortmiller, Trustee of the Nancy A. Hervert Revocable Trust, referred to as part of 

parcel 280025000, situated in part of the Southeast Quarter in Section Twelve (12), Township Eleven (11) North, Range 

Fourteen (14) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, has approximately 149.54 remnant acres. 

3. The proposed plat for this subdivision fulfills Buffalo County’s Subdivision Resolution requirements for administrative 

subdivisions specifically allowed under Section 3.02, together with other provisions applicable, thereto. 

4. 265th Road is a county-maintained, open public road and it abuts the subdivision on its south side. The width of 265th Road 

meets this county’s minimum width standards without the need of additional dedications.  

5. Title search paperwork has been provided to the Buffalo County Attorney’s Office and that office has cleared title as concerns 

Buffalo County’s interests based upon the title search documents delivered to that office by applicant. 

6. This proposed administrative subdivision should be approved.     

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS in regular session 
with a quorum present, that the plat, “N A Hervert Administrative Subdivision”, an administrative subdivision located in Part of 
the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section Twelve (12), Township Eleven (11) North, Range Fourteen (14) West 
of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, duly made out, acknowledged and certified, is hereby approved, 
accepted, ratified, and authorized to be filed and recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds, Buffalo County, Nebraska. 
 

  

   

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to recess the regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners at 9:25 A.M. and 

reconvene as a Board of Equalization. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, 

Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 
Chairperson Morrow called the Board of Equalization to order in open session. County Treasurer Rohrich and County Assessor 

Roy Meusch were present.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister spoke. After discussion it was moved by Higgins and seconded by Kouba that Buffalo 

County Board of Equalization Confesses Judgment in Tax Equalization & Review Commission Case #24C-0357 in appeal concerning 

TSC Realty Appellant, and Buffalo County, Appellee, for property identified as tax parcel #600058000 and that the Buffalo County 



Attorney’s Office be, and hereby is, authorized to confess judgment on behalf of this Board, that for tax year 2024 this property had an 

assessed valuation of $865,335.00. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Higgins, Kouba, Klein, Loeffelholz, 

Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to approve the Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the 

application by County Treasurer Rohrich for Mid Nebraska Individual Services for a 2025 Ford Transit Van. Upon roll call vote, the 

following Board members voted “Aye”: Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Abstain: Klein. Motion declared 

carried. 

 Moved by Klein and seconded by Kouba to approve Tax List Corrections numbered 5119-5125 submitted by County Assessor 

Meusch. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Klein, Kouba, Higgins, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and 

Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Maendele to adjourn the Board of Equalization and return to the regular meeting of the 

Board of Commissioners at 9:30 A.M. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Loeffelholz, Maendele, Higgins, 

Klein, Kouba, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

ROAD DEPARTMENT 
Highway Superintendent John Maul was present for the following agenda items. 

Chairperson Morrow instructed County Clerk Christensen to open and read aloud the submitted bids for project 9C23 C10(1415) 

structure no. C001011605 located on 280th Road East of Odessa Road. Bids were submitted from the following companies: Theisen 

Construction, Inc. KEA Constructors, General Excavating, Constructors, Inc, Simon and Midwest Infrastructure, Inc. Highway 

Superintendent Maul will review the bids and come back with recommendations at the next meeting on November 25, 2025. 

Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to accept the low bid of Vontz Paving Inc., for the 2026 Asphalt Overlay Project 

for the bid price of $920,312.49. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Loeffelholz, Klein, Higgins, Kouba, 

Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

After discussion of the Olsson engineering study recommendation of 56th St & Antelope Ave the agenda item was referred to the 

Road Committee for review. No decisions were made at this time. 

Moved by Klein and seconded by Higgins to authorize Chairperson Morrow to sign on behalf of the County Board the Annual 

Certification of County Highway Superintendent with the following Resolution 2025-68. Upon roll call vote, the following Board 

members voted “Aye”: Klein, Higgins, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

RESOLUTION 2025-68 
SIGNING OF THE YEAR-END CERTIFICATION OF COUNTY HIGHWAY SUPERINTENDENT FORM 2025 

 
 Whereas:  State of Nebraska Statues, sections 39-2302, and 39-2501 through 39-2505 detail the requirements that must be met in 

order for a county to qualify for an annual Incentive Payment; and 

Whereas: The State of Nebraska Department of Transportation (NDOT) requires that each county must annually certify (by 

December 31st of each year) the appointment(s) of the County Highway Superintendent(s) to the NDOT using the Year-End Certification 

of County Highway Superintendent form; and 

Whereas: The NDOT requires that such certification shall also include a copy of the documentation of the county highway 

superintendent’s appointment, i.e., meeting minutes showing the appointment of the County Highway Superintendent by their name as it 

appears on their License (if applicable), their License Number (if applicable) and Class of License (if applicable), the type of appointment, 

i.e., employed or under contract (consultant , or interlocal agreement with another county and/or incorporated municipality) , and the 

beginning date of the appointment; and 

Whereas: The NDOT also requires that such Year-End Certification of County Highway Superintendent form shall be signed by 

the County Board Chairperson and shall include a copy of a resolution of the County Board authorizing the signing of the Year-End 

Certification of County Highway Superintendent form by the County Board Chairperson. 

Be it resolved that the County Board Chairperson of Buffalo County is hereby authorized to sign the attached Year-End 

Certification of County Highway Superintendent form(s). 

 

Chairperson Morrow instructed County Clerk Christensen to open and read aloud the submitted bids for two concrete boxes: 

Project No. C10 (1446) structure no. C001003805P located on 108th Road a quarter mile east of Imperial Road and Project No. C10 

(1416) structure no. C001017510 located on Wiseman Road north of 70th Road. Bids were submitted from the following companies: 



Midlands Contracting, Saul Ramos Construction Inc., Simon, A+ Contracting and Myers Construction, Inc. Highway Superintendent 

Maul will review the bids and come back with recommendations at the next meeting on November 25, 2025. 

 

FACILITIES  
 Facilities Director Stephen Gaasch and Assistant Facilities Director Nicholas Killough were present for the review of the current 

construction projects for Buffalo County with the Board.   

 Moved by Kouba and seconded by Higgins to approve the following Change Order Requests for the 321 Building Canopy 

project; Request #1 in the amount of $29,000 and is on file with the County Clerk. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members 

voted “Aye”: Kouba, Higgins, Klein, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

REGULAR AGENDA 
Chairperson Morrow called for Citizen’s forum. Veterans Committee Chairperson Tom McCoy shared highlights of the Veterans 

Day Parade with the Board.  

At 10:04 A.M., Chairperson Morrow asked if there was anything else to come before the Board before he declared the meeting 

adjourned until the regular meeting on Tuesday, November 25, 2025.  
 

           ATTEST: 

___________________________________             _________________________________   
Sherry L. Morrow, Chairperson      Heather A. Christensen  
Buffalo County Board of Commissioners     (SEAL)   Buffalo County Clerk                                              

















































 

 
ZONING AGENDA ITEM #1 

 
 

MEETING DATE:  November 25, 2025 

SUBJECT: Discussion and Decision on Code Amendment Referral to The Buffalo County 
Planning Commission 

 
Discussion: 

Discussion and decision to refer a zoning amendment to the Buffalo County Planning 
Commission for discussion, study, review, and recommendation(s), regarding Personal Use Solar 
Energy System, when the system is situated on a lot comprised of 10.00 acres or greater in the 
Agricultural – Residential 2 (AGR- 2) District. 
 

 

BUFFALO COUNTY ZONING & FLOODPLAIN 
Buffalo County Courthouse 
1512 Central Avenue 
PO Box 1270 
Kearney, NE  68848 
Phone: (308) 236-1998 
Fax: (308) 236-1870 
Email: zoning@buffalocounty.ne.gov 



Zoning 
Agenda 

 
 

Item #1 
 

 



Proposed Code Amendment Regarding Personal Use Solar Energy Systems in 
the Agricultural – Residential 2 (AGR – 2) District 

 
Add the following permitted principle use/structure to Buffalo County Zoning Regulations, 
Section 5.32, with renumbering necessary: 
 

• Personal Use Solar Energy System, when the system is situated on a lot comprised of 
10.00 acres or greater; 

 

 

 





BUFFALO COUNTY SNOW EVENT PARKING PLAN  

                             2025-2026 Winter Season  
  

[Type here] [Type here] [Type here] 

Purpose and Key Provisions 

• The purpose of this snow event parking plan is to articulate the policies, authorities, 

timelines and other necessary information as it relates to state and county employee 

parking around the courthouse property during a snow event. 

• The primary objective of the Facility Snow Removal Plan and the Snow Event Parking 

Plan is to ensure and maintain a safe environment for all employees and for the general 

public doing business at the courthouse.   

• The first priority in the Facility Snow Removal Plan is to clean the employee parking lots, 

typically starting at 4:30 am.  Since these lots will be cleaned prior to employees arriving 

to work, it is important that during a snow event the county and state employees park 

in the permit lots or the lot south of the jail to help with the ease and safety of snow 

removal.   

Definitions 

• Snow Event 

o Any accumulation of snow that could cause an imminent safety hazard. 

• Snow Event Parking Plan 

o This plan is to be used during a snow event to minimize hazardous conditions 

and facilitate the continual removal of accumulating snow and ice throughout 

the day. 

Authorities 

• A snow event will be determined by the Buffalo County Facilities Director with the 

assistance of the Board Chairman. 

• Snow removal work will be performed by the Buffalo County Facilities, HWY, and Weeds 

departments. 

Timelines 

• When possible, the facilities director and/or his designee will notify all county and state 

employees and/or offices no later than 4:00 p.m. the day prior to the snow event.   

• If the Facilities Director and/or his designee are unable to notify the officials prior to a 

snow event and there is ANY accumulation of snow on the ground, it is assumed to be a 

snow event.   

• Typically, the snow removal will begin at 4:30 am, when possible, with the employee 

lots being cleaned first (by 7:00am), followed by the horseshoe parking lot and the east 

street parking (by 8:00am).  The sidewalks and entrances should be cleaned by 7:30am.  



BUFFALO COUNTY SNOW EVENT PARKING PLAN  

                             2025-2026 Winter Season  
  

[Type here] [Type here] [Type here] 

The north side of the Courthouse will be the last to be cleaned, with lower priority due 

to this being an emergency snow route with no parking allowed on the 16th street.  

• The snow event parking plan will remain in effect for the entire working day of the snow 

event unless notified by the facilities director that the snow event has ended early. 

     

Parking Regulations 

• County owned vehicles 

o If possible, all county owned vehicles should be parked in their assigned spots in 

the south employee parking lot (west of the Justice Center). 

• State owned vehicles parking on County property 

o If possible, all stated owned vehicles should be parked in their assigned spots in 

the south permit lot (west side of Justice Center). 

• Vehicles parked overnight in one of the lots during a snow event should park in the 

stalls around  the perimeter of the lot, and preferably be grouped together. 

• Employee owned vehicles 

o If possible, we would like to have all county and state employees park in the 

permit only lots, the east parking lot, or in the parking lot south of the jail. 

o We ask that no employee park on the street or in the horseshoe during a snow 

event without prior approval.  Employee vehicles parked on the street or in the 

horseshoe during a snow event may be towed.   

• Vehicles owned by members of the public 

o Street parking and the horseshoe will be available for members of the public.   

• PLEASE REMEMBER THAT 16TH STREET IS AN EMERGENCY SNOW ROUTE AND SHOULD 

NOT BE USED FOR PARKING WHEN THE CITY HAS DECLARED AN EMERGENCY SNOW 

EVENT. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

601 P Street / Suite 200 / Lincoln, NE 68508 

O 402.474.6311 / F 402.474.5063 / olsson.com 

 

TECHNICAL MEMO 
 

To: John Maul - Buffalo County 

From: Shane King, P.E., PTOE 

RE: 56th Street and Antelope Avenue Intersection Evaluation 

Date: November 06, 2025  

Olsson Project #: 021-07457 

 
 

Introduction  

This memorandum presents an intersection control warrant evaluation for the intersection of 56th Street 
and Antelope Avenue in Buffalo County, NE. The objective of this memorandum is to determine if the 
intersection of 56th Street and Antelope Avenue satisfies warrants for all-way stop control. The 
determination will follow local and Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) criteria. The location of the 
study intersection is shown in Figure 1. 
 

Data Collection 

The data collection effort included collecting eight-hour movement counts (7-9 AM, 11 AM-2 PM, 3-6 PM) 
on a typical weekday. This was performed on Tuesday, July 15, 2025, and detailed count information is 
attached to this memorandum.  
 
Approximately 3,000 vehicles passed through the intersection during the eight-hour period. The observed 
peak hours of flow are as follows: 7:00-8:00 AM, 11:45 AM-12:45 PM, and 4:30-5:30 PM. Heavy vehicle 
percentage is approximately 0% during the AM peak hour, 1% during the Midday peak hour, and 0.2% 
during the PM peak hour. No pedestrians or bikes were observed during the eight-hour counts. 
 
A desktop review was completed related to characteristics of the intersection and immediate vicinity. 56th 
Street is a two-lane rural highway with a posted speed limit of 50 mph. Antelope Avenue is a two-lane 
rural highway with a posted speed limit of 55 mph. The intersection of the two roadways operates as two-
way stop control with stop signs on the eastbound and westbound approaches. The stop sign assemblies 
are supplemented with solar powered flashing borders and “Cross Traffic Does Not Stop” warning signs. 
Both approaches also include stop ahead warning signs. One streetlight illuminates the intersection on an 
existing utility pole. 
 
Adjacent land-uses in all four quadrants of the intersection are agricultural. 
 
A summary of the existing traffic volumes, lane configuration, and capacity analysis is shown in Figure 2. 
 
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
S

T

A
T

E OF NEBRA
S

K
A

P
R

O
F
E

S
SI

ONAL CIVIL EN

G
IN

E
E

RSHANE A.

KING

E-12448
11/06/2025



56th Street & Antelope Avenue Intersection Evaluation

Olsson Project No. 021-07457

Intersection Evaluation

November 2025

Buffalo County, NE
Vicinity Map

FIGURE 1

LEGEND

Copyright Disclaimer: This image may contain projection, simulation, or fictional content.

N.T.S.

S 
A

ve

Tech One Blvd

Global Dr

Study Intersection

56th St

A
nt

el
op

e 
A

ve



56th St

A
nt

el
op

e 
A

ve

56th St

A
nt

el
op

e 
A

ve
56th St

A
nt

el
op

e 
A

ve

56th Street & Antelope Avenue Intersection Evaluation

Olsson Project No. 021-07457

Intersection Evaluation

November 2025

Existing Conditions
FIGURE 2

N.T.S.

LEGEND
Lane Configuration

Peak Hour Volumes

Stop Sign

Stop Controlled Intersection

Movement LOS

Lane Configuration & Traffic Control Peak Hour Volumes
7:00-8:00 AM
4:30-5:30 PM

Capacity Analysis

AM (PM)

1 (5)

25
 (5

4)

2 (3)

1 
(0

)

80 (174)
0 (1)

17
 (5

2)
3 

(3
)114 (126)

30 (29)

53
 (2

3)
2 

(6
)

B (B)

A 
(A

)

B (B)

A 
(A

)

AM (PM)



 

 

601 P Street / Suite 200 / Lincoln, NE 68508 

O 402.474.6311 / F 402.474.5063 / olsson.com 

Crash History  

Three-year historical crash data was requested from Buffalo County for reduction. Crash data from 
January 1, 2022 through July 31, 2025 was analyzed to identify existing crash patterns at the intersection 
of 56th Street and Antelope Avenue. Identified crash patterns may be applicable to intersection control 
considerations. 
 
Crash data is summarized in Table 1; crashes that occurred outside of the influence of the intersection 
are not presented. 
 
Table 1. Crash Data Summary by Year 

 2022 2023 2024 2025* 

Reported Crashes 4 6 6 7 

*Partial Year. 
 
In review of the crash data, there were a total of twenty-three crashes reported at the intersection over the 
43-month period. Crash patterns can be identified from the analysis results: 

• The most common violation was “failed to yield right-of-way" (13 crashes, 56.5%) 

• Angle crashes occurred the most (11 crashes, 47.8%) 

• March was the month with the most crashes (5 crashes, 21.7%)  

• Tuesday was the day of the week with the most crashes (8 crashes, 34.8%)  

• The majority of crashes occurred in the afternoon (17 crashes, 73.9%) 

• The hours with the most crashes reported were 12PM (4 crashes, 17.4%) and 5PM (4 crashes, 
17.4%) 

• Of the twenty-three reported crashes, three resulted in possible injuries (3 crashes, 13.0%), 
seven resulted in suspected minor injuries (7 crashes, 30.4%), and one resulted in a fatality (1 
crash, 4.3%). 
 

One fatal crash occurred involving a motor vehicle and a bicycle. Both the vehicle and the bicycle were 
eastbound on 56th Street. The vehicle collided with the rear of the bicycle, resulting in the fatality of the 
bicyclist.  

Intersection Control Evaluation 

Intersection control decisions should be based on an engineering study, which evaluates factors related 
to the existing operation and safety at the intersection, the potential to improve these conditions, and the 
applicable factors contained in warrants specified by the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD). The study for the intersection of 56th Street and Antelope Avenue evaluates alternate 
intersection control options of an all-way stop. 
 

All-Way Stop Warrant Evaluation 

The MUTCD provides guidance on when to install all-way stop control at intersections. There are five 
warrants provided: 
 

• Warrant A – Crash Experience 

• Warrant B – Sight Distance 

• Warrant C – Transition to Signal Control or Transition to Yield Control at a Circular Intersection 

• Warrant D – 8-Hour Volume 

• Warrant E – Other Factors 
 

Additionally, the MUTCD states that the decision to install all-way stop control on site roadways open to 
public travel may be based on engineering judgement. Based on the available data, Warrant A, Warrant 
B, Warrant D, and Warrant E were evaluated for this study. 



 

 

601 P Street / Suite 200 / Lincoln, NE 68508 

O 402.474.6311 / F 402.474.5063 / olsson.com 

 
Warrant A – Crash Experience 
Crash data information was presented in the Crash History section. As outlined in the MUTCD, the 
following criteria shall be met to satisfy the crash experience warrant.  

A. For a four-leg intersection, there are five or more reported crashes in a 12-month period or six or 
more reported crashes in a 36-month period that were of a type susceptible to correction by the 
installation of all-way stop control. 

B. For a three-leg intersection, there are four or more reported crashes in a 12-month period or five 
or more reported crashes in a 36-month period that were of a type susceptible to correction by 
the installation of all-way stop control. 
 

Six angle crashes with “failed to yield right-of-way” violations occurred between August 2022 and July 
2025. Therefore, the data meets the minimum number of reported crashes in a 36-month period that were 
susceptible to correction by the installation of all-way stop control. Condition A is satisfied; therefore, 
Warrant A is satisfied.  

Warrant B – Sight Distance 
Warrant B states that all-way stop control may be installed at an intersection where an engineering study 
indicates that sight distance on the minor-road approaches controlled by a STOP sign is not adequate for 
a vehicle to turn onto or cross the major (uncontrolled) road. 
 
Through a desktop review, sight distance appears available for both eastbound and westbound 
approaches after stopping at the designated locations. 
 
Warrant C – Transition to Signal Control or Transition to Yield Control at a Circular Intersection 
Warrant C states that all-way stop control may be installed at locations where all-way stop control is an 
interim measure that can be installed to control traffic while arrangements are being made for the 
installation of a traffic control signal at the intersection or for the installation of yield control at a circular 
intersection. 
 
Warrant C is not applicable to the study intersection. 
 
Warrant D – 8-Hour Volume (Vehicles, Pedestrians, Bicycles) 
Eight-hour volume information was presented in the Data Collection section. As outlined in the MUTCD, 
the following criteria shall be met to satisfy the eight-hour volume warrant.  

A. The combined motor vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian volume entering the intersection from the 
major-street approaches is at least 300 units per hour for each of any 8 hours of a typical day; 
and  

B. The combined motor vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian volume entering the intersection from the 
minor-street approaches is at least 200 units per hour for each of any of the same 8 hours. 
 

If the 85th-percentile approach speed of the major-street traffic exceeds 40 mph, the minimum vehicular 
volume warrants may be reduced to 70 percent of the values given in Items A and B in this section.  
 
Since the approach speed of Antelope Avenue exceeds 40 mph, the minimum traffic volumes required to 
satisfy warrant D are reduced to 210 units per hour for the major-street approaches and 140 units per 
hour for the minor street approaches. The total volumes and percentages of warrant volumes met are 
recorded in Table 2 and Table 3.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

601 P Street / Suite 200 / Lincoln, NE 68508 

O 402.474.6311 / F 402.474.5063 / olsson.com 

    Table 2. Warrant D - Condition A 

Major Street (Antelope Ave) 

Time Approach Volumes Warranting Volume: 210 

Beginning NORTH SOUTH Total Percent of Warrant 
Volumes Met 

7:00 am 45 56 101 48 

8:00 am 37 46 83 40 

11:00 am 57 27 84 40 

12:00 pm 67 37 104 50 

1:00 pm 52 31 83 40 

3:00 pm 55 30 85 40 

4:00 pm 65 26 91 43 

5:00 pm 118 41 159 76 

Hours Met 0 

Condition Met No 

 
    Table 3. Warrant D - Condition B 

Minor Street (56th St) 

Time Approach Volumes Warranting Volume: 140 

Beginning EAST WEST Total Percent of Warrant 
Volumes Met 

7:00 am 147 82 229 164 

8:00 am 103 89 192 137 

11:00 am 124 129 253 181 

12:00 pm 186 112 298 213 

1:00 pm 169 93 262 187 

3:00 pm 132 177 309 221 

4:00 pm 140 173 313 224 

5:00 pm 170 146 316 226 

Hours Met 8 

Condition Met Yes 

  
The volumes do not meet the requirements of condition A, but do meet condition B. Since Warrant D 
requires both conditions to be met, Warrant D is not satisfied. 



 

 

601 P Street / Suite 200 / Lincoln, NE 68508 

O 402.474.6311 / F 402.474.5063 / olsson.com 

Warrant E – Other Factors 
Warrant E states that all-way stop control may be installed at an intersection where an engineering study 
indicates that all-way stop control is needed due to other factors not addressed in the other all-way stop 
control warrants. Such other factors may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

A. The need to control left-turn conflicts, 
B. An intersection of two residential neighborhood collector (through) streets of similar design and 

operating characteristics where all-way stop control would improve traffic operational 
characteristics of the intersection, or 

C. Where pedestrian and/or bicyclist movements support the installation of all-way stop control. 
 
Condition A – Based on information available, there are not noteworthy left-turn conflicts. 
Condition B – The two streets are of similar design and operating characteristics. With LOS A or B for all 
movements during the peak hours, additional stoppage would not be expected to improve operations. 
Condition C – Pedestrian and bicyclist movements are not present and do not support the installation of 
all-way stop control. 
 

Summary 

This memorandum documents the results of the intersection control evaluation performed at the 
intersection of 56th Street and Antelope Avenue in Buffalo County, Nebraska. Existing intersection 
characteristics were reviewed, and the need for all-way stop control was evaluated using warrants 
prescribed in the MUTCD. Evaluation results are summarized in Table 4. 
 

Table 4. All-Way Stop Warrant Summary 

56th St and Antelope Ave 

Warrant Condition Met 

Warrant A Yes 

Warrant B No 

Warrant C N/A 

Warrant D No 

Warrant E No 

 
After review of available data, it was determined that one of the four evaluated all-way stop control 
warrants is satisfied by the existing conditions at the intersection of Antelope Avenue and 56th Street. Due 
to the high number of crashes and that a large portion of the crashes were susceptible to correction by 
all-way stop control, the crash experience of the study intersection justifies the implementation of all-way 
stop control. Therefore, installation of stop signs on the northbound and southbound approaches is 
recommended at this time.  
 
Conversion of intersection traffic control must be complete and thorough, adhering to current design 
standards and best practices. Changes to the 56th Street approaches shall include removing the “Cross 
Traffic Does Not Stop” signs and installing the “All Way” (R1-3P) plaque. To implement stop control on the 
Antelope Avenue approaches, the standard sign sequence of “Stop Ahead” and combination of “Stop” 
and “All Way” shall be installed. Due to the rural nature of the intersection and change in control, 
additional enhanced conspicuity measures are recommended as outlined in the MUTCD. These include 
LEDs in the border of the Stop sign (similar to the existing condition for 56th Street) and vertical reflective 
strip on sign posts (for the Stop and the Stop Ahead signs). Additional consideration should be given to 
utilize a changeable message sign during the first week of conversion to bring additional warning to 
drivers. 
 



ANTELOPE AVE ANTELOPE AVE56TH ST56TH ST

(303) 216-2439
www.alltrafficdata.net

Location: 1  ANTELOPE AVE & 56TH ST AM

Tuesday, July 15, 2025Date:

Peak Hour - Motorized Vehicles Peak Hour - Bicycles Peak Hour - Pedestrians

Traffic Counts - Motorized Vehicles

Note: Total study counts contained in parentheses.

Peak Hour: 07:00 AM - 08:00 AM

Peak 15-Minutes: 07:45 AM - 08:00 AM

56 18

82

118

4585

147

109

0.85
N

S

EW

0.75

0.78

0.70

0.80

(39)(102)

(171)

(193)

(219)

(250)

(82)(154)

2 01

0

80

2

30

114

1

0

2

53
25 17 30

56TH ST

56TH ST

ANTELOPE AVE

ANTELOPE AVE

0

0

0

0
N

S

EW

0
0

00

0 0

0
0

0

0 0 0

0

0

0

0

000

0

0

0

0

0

N

S

EW

0 0

0 0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0

0

Left Thru Right Total
EastboundInterval

Start Time
Rolling
Hour West East South North

Pedestrian Crossings
U-Turn

Westbound Northbound Southbound
Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn

7:00 AM 0 7 6 0 0 101 1 26 0 1 15 77 0 0 0 03307 0 2 1

7:15 AM 0 3 3 0 0 190 0 30 0 0 11 72 0 0 0 03296 0 0 0

7:30 AM 0 11 4 0 0 131 0 23 0 0 24 84 0 0 0 03166 0 1 1

7:45 AM 0 4 4 0 1 110 0 35 0 1 30 97 0 0 0 029011 0 0 0

8:00 AM 0 3 4 0 0 110 0 30 0 0 21 76 0 0 0 02755 0 1 1

8:15 AM 0 3 1 0 0 70 1 19 0 1 18 59 0 0 0 07 0 0 2

8:30 AM 0 1 3 0 0 100 0 10 0 0 26 58 0 0 0 08 0 0 0

8:45 AM 0 11 8 0 0 130 4 13 0 1 22 82 0 0 0 06 0 2 2

Count Total 76056 6059410334301674018662 000 0

Peak Hour 2 1 114 0 2 80 0 25 17 0 1 53 33030 0 3 2 0 0 0 0



ANTELOPE AVE ANTELOPE AVE56TH ST56TH ST

(303) 216-2439
www.alltrafficdata.net

Location: 1  ANTELOPE AVE & 56TH ST Noon

Tuesday, July 15, 2025Date:

Peak Hour - Motorized Vehicles Peak Hour - Bicycles Peak Hour - Pedestrians

Traffic Counts - Motorized Vehicles

Note: Total study counts contained in parentheses.

Peak Hour: 11:45 AM - 12:45 PM

Peak 15-Minutes: 12:00 PM - 12:15 PM

31 29

132

128

7369

168

178

0.94
N

S

EW

0.77

0.84

0.83

0.87

(73)(95)

(334)

(370)

(441)

(479)

(176)(200)

6 02

3

121

8

38

123

7

0

0

23
51 19 30

56TH ST

56TH ST

ANTELOPE AVE

ANTELOPE AVE

0

0

0

0
N

S

EW

0
0

00

0 0

0
0

0

0 0 0

0

0

0

0

000

0

0

0

0

0

N

S

EW

0 0

0 0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0

0

Left Thru Right Total
EastboundInterval

Start Time
Rolling
Hour West East South North

Pedestrian Crossings
U-Turn

Westbound Northbound Southbound
Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn

11:00 AM 0 12 3 0 0 50 0 14 0 3 13 61 0 0 0 03379 1 0 1

11:15 AM 0 3 3 0 2 60 0 19 0 0 40 94 0 0 0 038314 1 3 3

11:30 AM 0 7 5 0 0 50 0 26 0 2 26 78 0 0 0 03754 0 2 1

11:45 AM 0 11 7 0 0 20 1 26 0 4 38 104 0 0 0 040411 1 1 2

12:00 PM 0 16 6 0 0 110 3 26 0 2 31 107 0 0 0 040211 0 0 1

12:15 PM 0 14 0 0 1 50 1 31 0 2 20 86 0 0 0 038710 0 2 0

12:30 PM 0 10 6 0 1 50 2 40 0 0 32 107 0 0 0 03846 2 0 3

12:45 PM 0 9 4 0 0 80 2 37 0 2 20 102 0 0 0 035817 1 0 2

1:00 PM 0 11 4 0 0 90 2 39 0 0 20 92 0 0 0 03456 0 0 1

1:15 PM 0 5 5 0 0 60 1 33 0 3 18 83 0 0 0 09 0 2 1

1:30 PM 0 10 3 0 0 50 4 28 0 2 22 81 0 0 0 05 0 0 2

1:45 PM 0 7 5 0 0 50 0 37 0 1 27 89 0 0 0 05 0 0 2

Count Total 19106107 1,0847240511150307210356160 000 0

Peak Hour 0 7 123 0 8 121 0 51 19 0 2 23 40438 3 3 6 0 0 0 0



ANTELOPE AVE ANTELOPE AVE56TH ST56TH ST

(303) 216-2439
www.alltrafficdata.net

Location: 1  ANTELOPE AVE & 56TH ST PM

Tuesday, July 15, 2025Date:

Peak Hour - Motorized Vehicles Peak Hour - Bicycles Peak Hour - Pedestrians

Traffic Counts - Motorized Vehicles

Note: Total study counts contained in parentheses.

Peak Hour: 04:30 PM - 05:30 PM

Peak 15-Minutes: 05:00 PM - 05:15 PM

29 58

178

129

10955

160

234

0.82
N

S

EW

0.54

0.74

0.57

0.89

(125)(97)

(496)

(369)

(608)

(442)

(238)(171)

6 00

1

174

3

29

126

5

0

0

23
54 52 30

56TH ST

56TH ST

ANTELOPE AVE

ANTELOPE AVE

0

0

0

0
N

S

EW

0
0

00

0 0

0
0

0

0 0 0

0

0

0

0

000

0

0

0

0

0

N

S

EW

0 0

0 0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0

0

Left Thru Right Total
EastboundInterval

Start Time
Rolling
Hour West East South North

Pedestrian Crossings
U-Turn

Westbound Northbound Southbound
Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn

3:00 PM 0 9 5 0 0 30 2 22 0 2 52 104 0 0 0 03948 0 1 0

3:15 PM 0 6 5 0 1 100 2 28 0 2 38 101 0 0 0 03886 1 0 2

3:30 PM 0 6 6 0 0 70 1 23 0 2 45 99 0 0 0 03804 2 2 1

3:45 PM 0 10 3 0 1 20 1 28 0 0 33 90 0 0 0 04007 0 2 3

4:00 PM 0 11 6 0 0 40 0 35 0 1 33 98 0 0 0 04046 0 1 1

4:15 PM 0 7 7 0 0 50 1 28 0 5 33 93 0 0 0 04525 0 1 1

4:30 PM 0 6 7 0 0 60 0 28 0 1 59 119 0 0 0 04767 1 1 3

4:45 PM 0 8 10 0 0 60 1 21 0 0 40 94 0 0 0 04728 0 0 0

5:00 PM 0 25 25 0 0 50 3 37 0 2 39 146 0 0 0 04757 0 2 1

5:15 PM 0 15 10 0 0 60 1 40 0 0 36 117 0 0 0 07 0 0 2

5:30 PM 0 9 14 0 1 160 0 36 0 2 32 115 0 0 0 03 0 0 2

5:45 PM 0 7 10 0 0 80 1 29 0 2 33 97 0 0 0 06 0 1 0

Count Total 1611474 1,27378301081190473190355130 000 0

Peak Hour 0 5 126 0 3 174 0 54 52 0 0 23 47629 1 3 6 0 0 0 0



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Antelope Ave & 56th St 08/04/2025

Existing AM  10:17 am 08/04/2025 Baseline Synchro 11 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 114 30 2 80 0 25 17 3 1 53 2
Future Vol, veh/h 1 114 30 2 80 0 25 17 3 1 53 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 1 124 33 2 87 0 27 18 3 1 58 2
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 178 136 59 214 136 20 60 0 0 21 0 0
          Stage 1 61 61 - 74 74 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 117 75 - 140 62 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 784 755 1007 743 755 1058 1544 - - 1595 - -
          Stage 1 950 844 - 935 833 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 888 833 - 863 843 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 703 741 1007 617 741 1058 1544 - - 1595 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 703 741 - 617 741 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 933 843 - 918 818 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 779 818 - 712 842 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.7 10.6 4.1 0.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1544 - - 784 737 1595 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.018 - - 0.201 0.121 0.001 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 - 10.7 10.6 7.3 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - B B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0.7 0.4 0 - -



HCM 6th TWSC

3: Antelope Ave & 56th St 08/04/2025

Existing PM  10:34 am 08/04/2025 Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 9.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 126 29 3 174 1 54 52 3 0 23 6

Future Vol, veh/h 5 126 29 3 174 1 54 52 3 0 23 6

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None

Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 5 137 32 3 189 1 59 57 3 0 25 7

 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 301 207 29 290 209 59 32 0 0 60 0 0

          Stage 1 29 29 - 177 177 - - - - - - -

          Stage 2 272 178 - 113 32 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 651 690 1046 662 688 1007 1580 - - 1544 - -

          Stage 1 988 871 - 825 753 - - - - - - -

          Stage 2 734 752 - 892 868 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 492 663 1046 524 661 1007 1580 - - 1544 - -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 492 663 - 524 661 - - - - - - -

          Stage 1 949 871 - 793 724 - - - - - - -

          Stage 2 521 723 - 729 868 - - - - - - -

 

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 11.8 12.7 3.6 0

HCM LOS B B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1580 - - 702 659 1544 - -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.037 - - 0.248 0.294 - - -

HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 - 11.8 12.7 0 - -

HCM Lane LOS A A - B B A - -

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 1 1.2 0 - -


	1. 11.10.25 BoC Minutes
	4. Payroll 11-14-2025
	5. November Board Preapproval
	7. October 2025 RYDE Report
	8. . Firstier release pledge collateral
	9. NRIN Agreement
	BoC 11.25.2025
	BOE The Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Society 
	ROAD 3. 56th St & Antelope Ave Eval

